1952

State Board of Education and W. O. Bentley et al v. Commission of Finance et al : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The 28th Legislature (Regular Session, 1949) adopt-
ed two Joint Resolutions proposing constitutional amend-
ments (1) to Article X, Section 8, and (2) to Article VII,

Sections 1, 10 and 20, Laws of Utah, 1949, pages 296 and 297. These proposed constitutional amendments were voted upon, and adopted, by the people at the general election in 1950.

Prior to its amendment Article X, Section 8, of the Utah Constitution provided:

The general control and supervision of the Public School System shall be vested in a State Board of Education, consisting of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, and such other persons as the Legislature may provide.

As amended said section now provides:

The general control and supervision of the public school system shall be vested in a State Board of Education the members of which shall be elected as provided by law.

The Board shall appoint the State Superintendent of Public Instruction who shall be the executive officer of the Board.

By the amendments to Article VII the Constitution was changed (a) to delete the Superintendent of Public Instruction from the list of elective officers constituting the Executive Department as set out in Section 1 thereof, (b) to delete the office of Superintendent of Public Instruction from the list of Executive Department offices named in Section 10 thereof where it is provided that in the event of vacancy in such offices by death, resignation or otherwise the Governor shall fill the same by appointment, and (c) to delete the office of Super-

intendent of Public Instruction from those named in Section 20 thereof, which provides that officers of the Executive Department, and other state and district offices provided for by law, shall receive for their services monthly a compensation as fixed by law.

The Joint Resolution proposing the amendment to Article X did not specifically provide for an effective date for that amendment. The Joint Resolution proposing the amendments to sections in Article VII, however, provided that "if adopted by the electors of the State, this amendment shall take effect the first day of January, 1951."

In the Regular Session of the 29th Legislature (1951) several bills were introduced to implement the approved constitutional amendment to Article X, Section 8. (H.B. No. 195, H.B. No. 221 and H.B. No. 222; S.B. No. 185, S.B. No. 186, S.B. No. 221, and S.B. No. 222). None of the bills, however, was passed. When the Legislature met in Special Session in June, 1951, the Governor called attention to the failure to pass implementing legislation in the Regular Session and added to the agenda of the Special Session the matter of considering such legislation. Three bills were introduced in the Special Session, H.B. No. 9 and S.B. Nos. 10 and 11. H.B. No. 9, as amended, was enacted and is now Chapter 16, Laws of Utah, 1951, First Special Session. S.B. No. 10 was passed and is now Chapter 17, Laws of Utah, 1951, First Special Session. S.B. No. 11 did not pass.

The Special Session of the Legislature adjourned

June 16, 1951. In accordance with Article VI, Section 25 of the Utah Constitution, the statutes passed during the Special Session became effective August 15, 1951. Under date of July 28, 1951 the Chairman of the State Board of Education asked the Attorney General of Utah for his opinion upon three questions: (1) Is it necessary that an election for a member of the Board of Education be held in Regional District No. 7 in 1951? (2) Does the State Board of Education have authority to appoint a State Superintendent of Public Instruction as soon as the law becomes effective? (3) Does the present State Superintendent have the right to continue in office until his elected term expires? In an opinion dated September 6, 1951 the Attorney General answered (1) that in his opinion no election should be held in 1951 in Regional District 7, (2) that in his opinion the Board of Education was then authorized to appoint the Superintendent of Public Instruction, and (3) that the term to which the Superintendent was elected in 1948 had been shortened and that he was not entitled as a matter of right to complete that term. At the meeting of the State Board of Education held September 7, 1951, the following motion was adopted:

Inasmuch as copies of the opinion requested by the Chairman of the State Board of Education from the Attorney General have not come to the attention of members of the Board until today, and inasmuch as all members of the Board are not present at today's meetings, the Board postpones action on permanent appointment of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction until the members have had opportunity to study possible

implications of the opinion and opportunity for a meeting to be held with a full membership of the Board present.

Pending final appointment, the Board appoints E. Allen Bateman as State Superintendent of Public Instruction and as Executive Officer of the Board at the present salary (\$6,000 per year.) Such appointment is to be effective as of August 16, 1951, and Superintendent E. Allen Bateman is authorized to sign all documents and carry out all business of the Board according to Board policy.

On October 5, 1951, the State Board of Education appointed E. Allen Bateman State Superintendent of Public Instruction and fixed his salary at \$10,000 per year. Exhibit "A" attached to Complaint. On October 9, 1951, the Board of Examiners, by a vote of two to one, approved the request of the State Board of Education to pay the Superintendent a salary of \$10,000 per year. Exhibit "B," attached to Complaint.

Section 5, Chapter 123, Laws of Utah 1951, provides that "Salaries of all state officers and employees shall be paid semi-monthly." Salary claims were submitted for and on behalf of the Superintendent of Public Instruction for the payroll periods October 1 to 15, 1951, and October 16 to 31, 1951, and said salary claims, each in the amount of \$416.66, were approved by the Board of Examiners, by a vote of 2 to 1. Exhibits "C", "D", "E" and "F", attached to Complaint. Defendants, however, refused, and despite the demand of Plaintiffs, still refuse, to prepare and issue warrants to Superintendent Bateman in payment of said salary claims. No salary

has been paid to Superintendent Bateman since his appointment by the Board of Education on October 5, 1951. Chapter 14, Laws of Utah 1943, (Section 87-5-3.10) provides that warrants shall be prepared, issued and drawn by the Commission of Finance.

Except for the allegations in the Answer filed herein, defendants have not advised plaintiffs of the reason or reasons why they have refused, and still continue to refuse, to prepare, draw and issue warrants for salary claims of the Superintendent of Public Instruction.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT I.

THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION WAS AUTHORIZED TO APPOINT AND FIX THE SALARY OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION.

Effect of 1950 constitutional amendments.

That part of the amendment to Section 8, Article X providing for the election of members of the State Board of Education was not self-executing.

Effect of the implementing legislation.

Superintendent Bateman's term was shortened, but the office was not abolished and no vacancy was created.

The offices of members of the Board were not abolished and no vacancies were created.

Under the amendments and statutes the Board of Education was authorized to appoint and fix the salary of the Superintendent.

POINT II.

THE AUTHORITY OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION TO FIX THE SUPERINTENDENT'S SALARY WAS SUBJECT ONLY TO APPROVAL BY THE BOARD OF EXAMINERS, AND THE AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS.

Salary of Superintendent no longer had to be "fixed by law."

Not being a salary fixed by law, approval by the Board of Examiners was necessary.

The salary claims having been approved by the Board of Examiners the Commission of Finance could not refuse to issue warrants if funds were available.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION WAS AUTHORIZED TO APPOINT AND FIX THE SALARY OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION.

Effect of 1950 constitutional amendments.

Prior to its amendment in 1950 Article X, Section 8 of the Utah Constitution provided that the State Board of Education consisted of the "Superintendent of Public Instruction and such other persons as the Legislature may provide." By Section 75-7-1, UCA 1943, the Legislature had provided that the Board "shall consist of the state superintendent of public instruction and nine other persons, appointed by seven regional school board conventions."

The 1950 amendment changed Article X, Section 8 to read:

The general control and supervision of the public school system shall be vested in a State Board of Education the members of which shall be elected as provided by law.

The Board shall appoint the State Superintendent of Public Instruction who shall be the executive officer of the Board.

By Chapter 16, Laws of Utah 1951, First Special Session, the Legislature established the machinery for the election of members of the Board, continued the terms of present members of the Board until elections are held in 1952, 1954 and 1956 and their successors are elected and qualified, and also provided that the Board "shall fix the salary of the state superintendent of public instruction, who shall be the executive officer of the board."

Article VII, Sections 1, 10 and 20, prior to their amendment in 1950, provided:

The Executive Department shall consist of Governor, Secretary of State, State Auditor, State Treasurer, Attorney General, and Superintendent of Public Instruction, each of whom shall hold his office for four years, beginning on the first Monday of January next after his election. * * * (Sec. 1)

* * * If the office of secretary of the state, state auditor, state treasurer, attorney general, or superintendent of public instruction be vacated by death, resignation or otherwise, it shall be the duty of the governor to fill the same by appointment, and the appointee shall hold his office until his successor shall be elected and qualified, as may be by law provided. (Sec. 10)

The Governor, Secretary of State, Auditor, Treasurer, Attorney General, Superintendent of Public Instruction and such other State and district officers as may be provided for by law, shall receive for their services monthly, a compensation as fixed by law. * * * (Sec. 20)

The 1950 amendments deleted the Superintendent of Public Instruction from each of the three Sections of Article VII.

The 1950 amendments did *not* change Section 19 of Article VII which provides:

The Superintendent of Public Instruction shall perform such duties as may be provided by law.

Neither did the 1950 amendments delete the reference to the office of Superintendent of Public Instruction in Section 15 of the same Article, which deals with the Board of Reform School Commissioners.

The effect of the amendment to Article X, Section 8 of the Constitution was to:

1. Provide that the State Board of Education shall be "elected as provided by law," whereas in the past the members have been appointed by regional school board conventions.
2. Eliminate the Superintendent from membership on the Board.
3. Authorize the Board to appoint the Superintendent, "who shall be the executive officer of the Board."

The effect of the amendment to Article VII, Sections 1, 10 and 20 was to:

1. Eliminate the Superintendent from the list of elected officers constituting the Executive Department. That Department now consists of the Governor, Secretary of State, State Auditor, State Treasurer and Attorney General.

2. Take the Superintendent out from the provisions of Section 2 of Article VII, which provides that the officers named in Section 1 shall be elected, etc.

3. Take the Superintendent out from the provisions of Section 3 of Article VII, which, among other things, provides that no person shall be eligible to any office listed in Section 1 unless he (a) is a qualified elector, and (b) shall have been a resident citizen of the State for five years next preceding his election.

4. Take the office of Superintendent out of the list of offices set out in Section 10 to which, in the event of vacancies, the Governor may make appointments.

5. Take the Superintendent out of the list of Executive Department officers and other state and district officers who, by virtue of Section 20, "shall receive for their services monthly, a compensation as fixed by law," etc.

That part of the amendment to Section 8, Article X, providing for the election of members of the State Board of Education was not self-executing.

In determining whether a constitutional amendment is self-executing the question is whether the "constitutional provision is addressed to the courts or to the legislature." Where, as in the case before the Court, the legislature is directed to make suitable provisions

for carrying the amendment into effect that amendment is "obviously addressed to the legislature and is indicative of the intention that such amendment should not become effective until made so by an act of the legislature." 11. Am. Jur. p. 690, Sec. 73. A constitutional provision is self-executing only if there is nothing to be done by the legislature to put it into operation, if the rights conferred and liabilities imposed are fixed by the Constitution itself, "and there is no language indicating that the subject is referred to the legislature for action. 11 Am. Jur. p. 692. Provisions relating to elections are not self-executing which "by express terms or by implication show the necessity for action by the legislature in order that they may become effective." 16 C.J.S. p. 109 Sec. 53. See *In Re Montello Salt Co.*, 88 U. 283, 53 P. 2d 727, 729, and *Anderson v. Cook*, 102 P. 265, 130 P. 2d 278; *State ex rel Richardson v. Ewing*, 17 Mo. 515; *State ex rel Hudd v. Timme Secretary of State* (Wis., 1882) 11 N.W. 785; *Opinion of Justices 3 Gray* (Mass.) 601; *State v. Scott*, 9 Ark. 270.

We think there can be no doubt that the provision in question was not self-executing. It specifically states that the members of the Board of Education shall be elected "as provided by law." Clearly this provision was directed to the Legislature, and implementing legislation was necessary to carry it out.

Effect of the implementing legislation.

As previously noted, several bills were introduced in the Regular Session of the 1951 Legislature to imple-

ment the constitutional amendments adopted in 1950. These bills failed of passage, however, and the subject was added to the agenda of the Special Session which convened in June 1951. See letter of the Governor to the House dated June 6, 1951, House Journal, 29th Legislature, First Special Session, p. 24, and Senate Journal, p. 32. Two statutes which were enacted at that Special Session are now designated Chapters 16 and 17, Laws of Utah 1951, First Special Session.

Chapter 16 amended Section 75-7-1, UCA 1943, to provide that the "state board of education shall consist of nine persons elected by qualified registered electors according to election districts, as hereinafter provided." It set up election districts on the same geographical basis as judicial districts, established a nominating procedure and then provided that the "elections shall be conducted as a part of the general election with the same judges of election, the same constables, and the same polling places, but with separate ballots." After stipulating that the returns shall be canvassed by district boards of education and the State Board of Education, Chapter 16 (in Sec. 75-7-1.50) provided (1) that in the November, 1952 general election, and every six years thereafter, three members shall be elected from Regional District No. 3, (2) that in the November, 1954 general election, and every six years thereafter, one member shall be elected in each of Regional Districts Nos. 4, 6 and 1, and (3) that in the November, 1956 general election, and every six years thereafter, one member shall be elected

in each of Regional Districts Nos. 5, 2 and 7. This new section then provided:

Each member of the state board of education shall be elected for a term of six years and until his successor is elected and qualified.

The terms of office of the present members of the state board of education are continued until their successors are elected and qualify.

Chapter 16 also amended Section 75-7-2 to in part provide:

The state board of education shall elect from its members a chairman and vice-chairman. Such officers shall be elected or appointed at the first meeting of the board in February, 1952, and each year thereafter. The duties of these officers shall be determined by the board. The board shall also appoint a secretary of the board who shall serve at the pleasure of the board.

The state board of education shall appoint and shall fix the salary of the state superintendent of public instruction, who shall be the executive officer of the board.

After making provision for the appointment of assistant superintendents, directors, supervisors, assistants, clerical workers and other employees, and for the fixing of their salaries by the Board, the statute also provides for an allowance of \$300.00 per year for members of the Board and for the payment of traveling expenses. It concludes with this provision:

All existing statutes of the state of Utah which are inconsistent or in conflict with this act, are to

the extent of such inconsistency or conflict, declared null and void insofar as they relate to the provisions of this act.

The provisions of Chapter 16 are consistent with the amendments adopted by the people in 1950, and with other provisions of the Constitution of this State. By enacting what is now Chapter 17, Laws of Utah 1951, First Special Session, the legislature specified what qualifications the Superintendent of Public Instruction must have and made it clear that he should "serve at the pleasure of the Board." The two statutes appropriately implemented the constitutional amendments and completed the changes in the State Board of Education and in the office of Superintendent of Public Instruction endorsed by the people of this state when they adopted the amendments in 1950.

It will be noted that the first sentence of Section 75-7-1.50 reads as follows:

There shall be elected on the first Tuesday after the first Monday of November in 1951, one member of the state board of education from Regional District No. 7.

We submit that it was a case of pure inadvertence to leave this sentence in the Section, and that the wording of the sentence is so meaningless and so inconsistent with the obvious intention of the Legislature that it should be rejected as surplusage and omitted, eliminated and disregarded.

Chapter 16 was H.B. No. 9 in the Special Session.

As introduced H.B. No. 9 provided that on the first Wednesday in *December*, 1951, one member of the state board of education should be elected from each of Regional Districts Nos. 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 and 7, and that in 1952 three members should be elected from Regional District No. 3. The Journal of the proceedings in the House shows that the House amended this section to provide for the election of one member from Regional District No. 7 in *November*, 1951, the election of three members from District No. 3 in December, 1952, and for the election of the other five members, one each year, in the following order: Region No. 4 in 1953, Region No. 6 in 1954, Region No. 1 in 1955, Region No. 5 in 1956, and Region No. 2 in 1957. (House Journal 29th Legislature, First Special Session, pp. 103-104)

When H.B. No. 9 was before the Senate it was amended so that Section 75-7-1.50 provided for the election of three members from District No. 3 in November 1952, one member from each of Districts Nos. 4, 6 and 1 in 1954, and one member from each of Districts Nos. 5, 2 and 7 in 1956. The Senate also amended the bill to provide that the *elections should be conducted as part of the general elections*, with the same judges, constables, and polling places, but with separate ballots. (Senate Journal 29th Legislature, First Special Session, pp. 126-127) It was purely an oversight not to strike out the first sentence of the Section, quoted above. That sentence is wholly inconsistent with the provision that elections of members of the State Board of Education should be conducted as part of the general elections. Not only was

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