1952

# State Board of Education and W. O. Bentley et al v. Commission of Finance et al : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

## POINT I.

BATEMAN STILL OCCUPIES OFFICE TO WHICH HE WAS ELECTED.

## POINT II.

OFFICE OF SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION AND STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION ABOLISHED.

## POINT III.

CHAPTER 16, FIRST SPECIAL SESSION 1951, UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

## POINT IV.

OFFICES ON BOARD OF EDUCATION VACANT.

---

 ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

BATEMAN STILL OCCUPIES OFFICE TO WHICH HE WAS ELECTED.

Our research has brought us into agreement with the Attorney General upon certain important points. It is our purpose, therefore, to first state the extent of our agreement, and thereafter set forth the points upon which we disagree, with the reasons therefor.

The power and authority of the Board of Examiners springs directly from the Constitution. The power and authority of the Finance Commission arises from legislative enactment. We are in agreement with the Attorney General that any conflict between the two agencies

must be resolved in favor of the Board of Examiners. The Finance Commission was created to protect the taxpayers from the improvident or unlawful expenditure of public funds, but it is subordinate to the Board of Examiners. This does not mean that the Board of Examiners is above or beyond lawful restraint. It cannot make lawful a claim against the state if the claim is in fact not a lawful claim.

A State Board of Education lawfully constituted and validly subsisting may, at the proper time, appoint a State Superintendent of Public Instruction and fix his salary, subject to the approval of the Board of Examiners. We feel forced to the conclusion that an approval by the Board of Examiners could not be vetoed by the Finance Commission.

So far we have been in at least qualified agreement with the Attorney General, but we find ourselves in disagreement with some of his premises, and with his final conclusions.

Under Point I, at page 10 of his brief, the Attorney General says:

“Superintendent Bateman’s term was shortened, but the office was not abolished and no vacancy was created.

“The offices of members of the Board were not abolished and no vacancies were created.”

Therein lies the point of our departure. The language just quoted states the Attorney General’s fundamental premise. We disagree with the premise and the conclusions drawn from it.



The two amendments discussed by the Attorney General were both adopted by the people on November 5, 1950. They expressed the solemn judgment of the people. They relate to a single subject and embrace a single plan and purpose. Whether this court shall follow and apply that line of cases which hold that the effective date of a constitutional amendment may be suspended for a reasonable time pending the enactment of implementing legislation or the line of cases which hold that in the absence of expressed conditions or reservations an amendment becomes immediately effective upon its adoption, this court cannot approve the conclusion advocated by the Attorney General without defeating and frustrating the expressed purpose and intention of the electorate.

Previously, the management of the public school system was vested in an elective Superintendent of Public Instruction and an appointive Board of Education. On November 5, 1950, the people expressed their determination that the management of the public school system should reside in an elective Board of Education and an appointive superintendent. It is respectfully suggested that there is no room for any inference that the electorate intended that after November 5th, 1950, the legislature should, for a long period of years, take to itself the management of the public school system by unduly prolonging the life and functions of the old board or by assuming to appoint the members of the newly created elective Board of Education.



The legislature has apparently assumed that the will of the electorate, as expressed in the amendment to Article X, Section 8, can be held in suspense and successfully thwarted until such time as it sees fit to give it effect. It has further assumed that in the meantime it can lawfully determine who shall occupy offices upon the Board of Education and for how long they may hold such offices. It has further assumed that such a board may appoint a superintendent and otherwise function without early or timely interference by the electorate or any other agency of government.

The Attorney General supports his contention by cases which hold, in general effect, that when a constitutional amendment altering the structure of government requires legislative implementation before the amendment can become functional the status quo shall obtain until the new constitutional provision is made effective by legislative implementation: *State ex rel Richardson v. Ewing*, 17 Mo. 515; *State ex rel Hudd v. Timme Secretary of State* (Wis.) 11 N.W. 785; *State v. Scott*, 9 Ark. 270; *Opinion of Justices*, 3 Gray 601 (Mass.). To the same effect see: *Broadwater v. Kendig, et al.*, 261 P. 264 (Mont.); *Andrews v. Neil, et al.*, 120 P. 383 (Ore.); *Hawley v. Anderson, et al.*, 190 P. 1097 (Ore.).

The statement that the office to which Mr. Bateman was elected was not abolished and no vacancy therein was created by adoption of the constitutional amendment is just another way of stating that the office to which Mr. Bateman was elected survived the adoption of the amendment, and that Mr. Bateman is still the incumbent.

If the office to which Bateman was elected was not abolished by the mere adoption of the constitutional amendment, then it survived at least until August 15, 1951. If it survived, and if no vacancy in the office was created by the adoption of the amendment, it is because Bateman still occupies the office. If the act of the legislature (Chapter 16, First Special Session Laws 1951) accomplished the implementation of the constitutional amendments, it terminated, as of August 15, 1951, both the office to which Bateman was elected and the offices on the Board of Education to which the old appointive members had been appointed. Chapter 16, First Special Session was enacted and approved May 15, 1951, and became effective August 15th.

Some of the cases cited and relied upon by the Attorney General, as well as those cited by us above, would support the view that the amendments were not intended to alter the status quo until sufficiently implemented by legislation to make them operative within the general framework of the state government. Until that time, however, according to some cases, the office to which Bateman was elected survived and he continued to be the incumbent. As such incumbent he would be entitled to only the powers of the office to which he was elected, and to the emoluments thereof as fixed by law at the time he sought and was elected to the office. Such must be the result pending the falling in of the effective date of the constitutional amendments if the cases relied upon

by the Attorney General are to be followed. Bateman's term was shortened only if his office ceased to exist.

It will doubtless be asserted that the effective date of the amendment to Article X, Section 8, was held in suspension pending the legislature's leisurely enactment of implementing legislation, while the amendment to Article VIII, Section 1, conveniently took effect on January 1, 1951. Such a contention will be in direct conflict with the Attorney General's statement on page 10 of his brief that Bateman's office was not abolished and no vacancy therein was created. Furthermore, it represents a unwarranted division into two parts of a single plan and purpose expressed by the electorate when it adopted the two amendments. Such a construction would require us to conclude that the people, having given up the right to elect a State Superintendent of Public Instruction and at the same time having reclaimed the right to elect a State Board of Education, surrendered its purpose to the whims of the legislature by leaving the legislature free to control the Board of Education and thereby bring about the appointment of a Superintendent of Public Instruction in direct conflict with the expressed purpose of the voters.

If the foregoing analysis should appeal to the court as sound and supported by respectable authority, the court will rule that if Bateman now lawfully occupies the office of superintendent it is the office to which he was elected, and he is entitled to only the emoluments of that office, which amount to \$6,000.00 per year.

## POINT II.

## OFFICE OF SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION AND STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION ABOLISHED.

There is an alternative which we desire to submit for the serious consideration of the court. If the office to which Bateman was elected still exists and is not vacant, then Bateman is the incumbent by force of his election, and he cannot be appointed to an office which he already occupies by election. He can be appointed to fill an office only if such office is vacant.

Both constitutional amendments were adopted by the people on November 5, 1950. The one substituting an appointive Superintendent of Public Instruction for an elective state office became effective by its terms on January 1, 1951, the one substituting an elective State Board of Education for the old appointive board became effective on November 5, 1950. If at any time after January 1, 1951, Bateman became detached from the office to which he was elected, with its advantages and disadvantages to him, then it must be so because the adoption of the amendment abolished the office to which he was elected. There cannot be two offices of State Superintendent of Public Instruction in existence at the same time: (1) the office to which Bateman was elected, and (2) the one created by the amendment. The Attorney General is forced to detach Bateman from the office to which he was elected and get him into a new one in order to save for him the new salary attempted to be voted by the purported State Board of Education.

If the constitutional amendment brought to an end

the office to which Bateman was elected, then Bateman was no longer an incumbent of that office. Likewise, if the constitutional amendment brought an end to Bateman's office, it brought an end to the offices to which the old members of the old Board of Education were appointed. By adoption of the amendment on November 5, 1950, the people abolished the old Board of Education and substituted a new board in its place, the offices pertaining to which will remain vacant until filled as provided by law. The Constitution provides means to prevent any interregnum. We desire to press this point further, but will diverge briefly to expose an incidental but significant point.

The Attorney General devotes one section of his brief to the argument that the provision of Chapter 16, Section 2, First Special Session 1951, (75-7-1.50) providing for the election of one member of the State Board of Education in November, 1951, should be ignored upon the ground that the entire provision was enacted through carelessness and inadvertence upon the part of the legislature. This would be our first experience in seeing the effect of a statute avoided upon the ground that the legislature not only did not mean what it said, but did not mean to say anything upon the subject. The chapter under discussion does impress us as an example of bad draftsmanship, and the Attorney General could be right in inviting the radical judicial treatment which he urges. His reasoning is persuasive and is supported by authority. Bad legislative practices may not, however, justify the warping or abridging of constitutional pro-

visions. Whether an election of one board member should have been held in 1951, and the effect of such failure upon the competency of the board as such to function, raise some interesting abstract questions which we forego the pursuit of to avoid obscuring other points of greater significance. It may be that a State Board of Education, otherwise validly subsisting after November, 1951, might not have a valid existence in the absence of one elected member.

The constitutional amendment which terminated the existence of the old appointive board, and substituted in its place an elective board, had its origin in a joint resolution of the two Houses in 1949. Session Laws 1949, p. 296. The amendment as adopted was written by the legislature. The legislature in drafting the amendment could have made provisions for suspension of the effective date of the amendment until implementing legislation could make it functional. The legislature failed to so provide.

Not having done so, the amendment which it proposed became effective immediately upon its adoption. See the instructive opinion of Chief Justice Hughes in *United States of America v. Chambers, et al.*, 291 U.S. 216, 78 L. Ed. 763, wherein these statements appear:

“\* \* \* Upon the ratification of the Twenty-first Amendment, the Eighteenth Amendment at once became inoperative. Neither the Congress nor the court could give it continued vitality. The National Prohibition Act, to the extent that its provisions rested upon the grant of authority to the Congress by the Eighteenth Amendment, im-

mediately fell with the withdrawal by the people of the essential constitutional support."

Further on, the Chief Justice says:

"\* \* \* The Congress, while it could propose, could not adopt the constitutional Amendment or vary the terms or effect of the Amendment when adopted. The Twenty-first Amendment contained no saving clause as to prosecutions for offenses theretofore committed. The Congress might have proposed the Amendment with such a saving clause, but it did not.

And again the Chief Justice said:

"\* \* \* The principle involved is thus not archaic but rather is continuing and vital,—that the people are free to withdraw the authority they have conferred and, when withdrawn, neither the Congress nor the courts can assume the right to continue to exercise it."

To the same effect see *State v. Anderson, et al.*, 166 Atl. 662, 664 (Del.).

### POINT III.

#### CHAPTER 16, FIRST SPECIAL SESSION 1951, UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

During the regular session of 1951, the legislature failed to enact any implementing legislation. Not until the special session of 1951 did the legislature get around to the passage of any law upon the subject. Not only does the bill as finally enacted merit the criticism of carelessness, leveled at it by the Attorney General, it is subject to serious, and, we urge, fatal constitutional objections. We humbly suggest that the legislation was bad and should have been vetoed by the Governor.



By the two amendments of 1950 the people surrendered the right to elect a State Superintendent of Public Instruction, but took back to themselves the right to elect the members of the State Board of Education. The right to elect is certainly one of the fundamental rights of citizenship. Such rights cannot be unreasonably suspended, or the exercise thereof long delayed by the legislature.

Article I, Section 17, Constitution of Utah:

“All elections shall be free, and no power, civil or military, shall at any time *interfere to prevent the free exercise of the right of suffrage*. Soldiers, in time of war, may vote at their post of duty, in or out of the State, under regulations to be prescribed by law.” (Italics ours.)

The 1951 legislature should have promptly provided for an election forthwith of the entire Board of Education. It could have provided for different tenures for the several members so that in the future the entire membership would not be subject to change at any one election. In such manner the determination of the people to elect the Board of Education would not have been defeated by unreasonable delay and suspension. What the legislature did was quite different. Under the provisions of Chapter 16, First Special Session, 1951, the electorate will not have a chance to fill the Board of Education by elected officers until January of 1957—seven years and two months after the adoption of the amendment. (Ch. 16, First Special Session, 1951, Sec. 75-7-1.50.)

If there was an unoccupied office to which Bateman was eligible for appointment in 1951, it was because his old office was gone and he therefore no longer occupied it. If such were the case then the old offices of State Board of Education were gone. New offices existed, but they were vacant. The legislature cannot continue in existence an office terminated by the Constitution. *People ex rel. Bledsoe v. Campbell, et al.*, 70 P. 918 (Cal.). In that case the California Supreme Court said:

“\* \* \* But when the term of office is fixed by the constitution in definite and precise language, as it is in the case of judges of the superior court, it is not competent for the legislature to extend that term.”

*Scott et al. v. Singleton, et al.*, 188 S.W. 302 (Ky.). In that case the Kentucky Court of Appeals said:

“\* \* \* The General Assembly therefore had the power to prescribe the qualifications and fix the manner in which the vacancies should be filled, but did not have the power to extend the length of time the appointees should hold office beyond the time fixed by section 152 of the Constitution \* \* \*.”

*In re Opinion of the Justices*, 171 N.E. 237 (Mass.), wherein the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts said:

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